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Sudan is a country shattered by sectarian civil. wRarticularly harshly
affected have been the regions in central Sudaeyevthe conflict between the
Islamic government and its Christian citizens hesrbkeen. The southern portion
of Sudan has recently seceded and formed a newnpatouth Sudan.
Unfortunately, conflict persists, both there andvhat was the central—now the
southern—regions of Sudan itself.

This unfortunate litigation involves a struggleeowa charitable corporation
founded to help the oppressed people described eabparticularly but not
exclusively the people of the Nuba Mountain regofrwhat is now the southern
part of Sudan. The charity, now known as SudameRELlLnd, Inc. (the “Fund”),
consisted of two very different but indispensaldlEments: organizers and fund-
raisers in the United States, and those guidingudeeof charitable funds on the
ground in one of the more remote and dangerous afethe world. Although the
Fund is not officially associated with the Cathdliburch, its board members are
all congregants of that Church, and the Fund hsisilolited its charity through a
Catholic group—the Comboni Missionary organizaticamre the Catholic Diocese
of El Obeid, which encompasses the Nuba Mountagiore The Bishop of El
Obeid, from the time of the Fund’s creation ungtently, was Macram Max
Gassis. Bishop Gassis was the face of the chavitich for many years bore the

name Bishop Gassis Sudan Relief Fund. He dirdtiedharitable works on the



ground in Sudan. Bishop Gassis was also the dasidrChairman of the Board of
the Fund. Both his status as board member andr@aaiwere largely honorific,
however; he devoted little effort towards operatomgoverseeing the charity. His
Fund-related time was spent on the ground in Sudi@ng the work for which the
charity was organized.

On August 23, 2013, the Fund’s board of directated to remove Bishop
Gassis from the board. This litigation resultedthvine Plaintiff, Bishop Gassis,
alleging that the board breached its fiduciary esjtmisappropriated his name and
likeness and committed other actionable wrongse Amended Complaint also
seeks a determination that Bishop Gassis and ther dtoard members were not
validly removed from, and thus still serve on, theard. This Memorandum
Opinion addresses that summary proceeding unddiro8e225 of the DGCL. |
find that Bishop Gassis was validly removed by a-thirds vote of directors, as
provided in the Fund’s Bylaws, effective Septembgr2013; that he ceased to be
a member, officer, or director of the Fund at tivae; and that he therefore lacks
standing to challenge the current composition eftibard. The other issues will

be addressed by separate Opinion.



I. FACTS
1. Bishop Macram Max Gassis

In order to understand the issues before me, ihdsessary to know
something of the history of the remarkable indigidwho is the Plaintiff in this
action, Bishop Gassis, and the diocese he admiedkter many years. Bishop
Gassis is a former Catholic Bishop of the ElI ObBidcese. He was born in the
city of Khartoum, located in northeastern Sudan.1957, Bishop Gassis joined
the Comboni Missionary, and in 1964, after attegdseminary in Italy, he was
ordained. Bishop Gassis was elected Apostolic Administratbthe El Obeid
Diocese in October 1983 and, in 1988, he was ndetdnRishop of that diocege.

The EI Obeid Diocese is one of two dioceses in 8udlae other is the
Archdiocese of Khartourh.The El Obeid Diocese, which covers a geograptea a
two-and-a-half times the size of Italy, is locafg@dominately in western Sudan
but also extends into portions of newly-independ®atith Sudafi.The diocese
includes the areas of “North and South Darfur, Nahd South Kordofan (the

Nuba Mountains) and [the] Abyei region.”

! p-165; P-169; DX 063.

2 P-169; DX 063; Am. Compl. { 19.
3 P-45 at BGF000579.

* DX 63; DX 76; Am. Compl. 119.

> Am. Compl.  19.



The Nuba Mountain region—‘located between Arab $udand the
Christian South Sudan”—is of particular interesttt® Bishog. In fact, he
contends that he was “exiled from much of his Eéfdlliocese, and even from his
family, after speaking out against the Islamistimegcentered in Khartoum and
aiding the suffering Nuba people [whom] the regimdiscriminately bombed,
enslaved, and killed”” The Plaintiff's Amended Complaint explains thiat,this
region:

Sudanese planes routinely drop bombs on schools fand.

Starvation is as rampant as medical care is spavsmy victims flee

the conflict and concentrate in the nearby Yidaget camp in Unity

State in South Sudan. In addition, refugees frdmehin the Nuba

mountain conflict area of the El Obeid Diocese héfled to Twic

County in the Diocese of Wau in South Sufian.

The Plaintiff also explains that “[tlhere is a ghalivide between the violent Nuba
Mountain region in [Christian] southern Sudan, veh8ishop Gassis has always
focused his humanitarian and awareness efforts, tl@dArab-northern part of

Sudan.? Notably, Bishop Gassis was the only Arabic-spegikinember of the

Sudan Catholic Bishops’ Conferene.

®|d. at 1 32;see alsdDX 76 (noting that the Bishop has focused mostisfdfforts in the Nuba
Mountain region, as well as the Dinka areas of S&utdan).

" Pl.’s Br. in Supp. of § 225 Claim at 6ee alsoP-169 (“The Sudanese government brought a
criminal indictment against Bishop Gassis whendstified before the U.S. Congress about the
atrocities committed by that government againsbws people.”).

8 Am. Compl.  32.

°Pl.’s Br. in Supp. of § 225 Claim at 5.

19 Am. Compl. { 22see alsdP-169 (explaining that this language ability erdbihe Bishop to
“serve]] as the Liaison between the Sudanese gowvanhand the Bishops’ conference”).

6



According to the Amended Complaint, “[tlhrough hieless and selfless
work, Bishop Gassis has developed tremendous atierral recognition as a
humanitarian, bringing the conflict and his peoplelight to the world’'s
consciousness.” He has testified before the United States Cosgriée State
Department, and the United Nations Human Rights i@ssion, and met with
members of the German Bundestag and of the Europadrament, as well as
other world leader¥. Bishop Gassis has been recognized with variooslades,
including the William Wilberforce Award, the A. Ripi Randolph-Bayard
Freedom Award, an Honorary Doctorate Degree in Hurhatters from San
Francisco University, and the Catholic University America’s President’s
Medal’®* In 2012, Bishop Gassis was nominated for a Ndtedce Prize by
Portuguese MP José Ribeiro e Cadtro,

in recognition of his courage in the struggle agathe discrimination

of Christians in the SudarMr[.] Castro said Bishop Gassis is a

witness of the great dramas, the great sufferinigsi® Christian

people and he himself experienced persecution. aditked that the

Sudanese bishop deserves the award due to his sty of

consistency, tenacity and courage during many \eaiavour of the
persecuted Christians in the Sudan.

X Am. Compl. 1 20.

12p.169; Am. Compl. 1 24.

13 Am. Compl. 1 21.

“1d. at 1 21.

151d. at 1 30 (internal quotation marks omitted).
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The Defendants also recognize that Bishop Gassas fmorked tirelessly for
decades to give voice to the victims of the wantoggion of Sudan,” and that
“[iln doing so, [he] has encountered great hard&Hip

In accordance with canon law, Bishop Gassis subdhitiis resignation to
Pope Francis on September 21, 2013, his sevetiyiithday:’ The Pope
accepted the Bishop’s resignation on October 281320 Following his
resignation, Bishop Gassis “continues to work irut8ern Kordofan and Twic
County following requests from the respective [Bish of those dioceses[’”

2. Bishop Gassis Sudan Relief Fund

In an effort to bring some relief to his dioce&®shop Gassis became
involved with the formation of Sudan Relief and &es Inc., a Delaware non-
profit, nonstock corporation, in 1999:in 2001, the corporation’s Certificate of
Incorporation was amended to change the corporatieaame to Bishop Gassis

Sudan Relief Fund, Irf¢. The Plaintiff contends that the Fund’s charitghiepose

1? Defs.” Answering Br. in Opp’n to Pl.’s § 225 Claiah 14.

Id.
18 DX 63; Defs.” Answering Br. in Opp’n to Pl.’s § 8Zlaim at 14.
¥ P-169.
20 The Defendants explain that William Saunders, aotl Bishop Gassis, was the initial
incorporator of Sudan Relief and Rescue, Inc; harethey agree that Bishop Gassis has been
involved with the Fund since the beginning of thenés history, and Bishop Gassis testified at
deposition that Saunders incorporated the Fundisatinection. Bishop Gassis Dep. Vol. |
20:11-18.
L In response to claims brought in this litigatiaisiag out of the Fund’s non-permissive use of
Bishop Gassis’s name and likeness in the operatidghe Fund, the Fund notified the Court on
October 1, 2013 that it has since changed its rtarBeidan Relief Fund, Inc.
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at its incorporation was limited to providing rélte the Nuba Mountain region of
Sudan. Indeed, the Fund’s Certificate of Incorpornastates that the Fund’'s

"

purpose “includ[es], but [is] not limited to,” “pvaling the people of Sudan’s
Nuba Mountain region with food, clothing, medicabplies, farming equipment,
books, and other educational materials,” in additio “developing, establishing,
and supporting educational facilities in the Nubauxitains to teach residents
husbandry techniques as well as basic readimgting, and mathematics
skills . . . .®* The Fund has raised over $25 million throughtsitfifteen-year
history”® As of August 2013, the Fund maintained a casharual of
approximately $6.4 million, funded by dondfs.
3. The Directors’ Relationships Break Down

In 2010, the Fund’'s seven-member board of diresctmnsisted of Bishop
Gassis, his supporters David Forte and Nina Sheh Defendants Ann Corkery,
John Klink, Steven Wagner, and David Coffey. Adtthme, Neil Corkery, Ann’s
husband, acted as the Fund’s “Executive Directear,full-time management

position. The Plaintiff contends that in 2010, &wadants Neil, AnA> Klink,

Wagner, and Coffey hatched a plan to force the dgisbut of the Fund. The

22 Certificate of Incorporation § 3(1)-(2).

23 P|.’s Br. in Supp. of § 225 Claim at 1.

24 Am. Compl.  50.

% | intend no disrespect by referring to the Corkeby their first names, but do so for ease of
reference.



Plaintiff suggests that the rift in the board wasmarily caused by differing

opinions among directors as to how donors’ fundsukh be distributed among
projects in and outside of the Nuba Mountain regiofhroughout the Fund’s
history, the board had largely deferred to Bishags$ts as to how donor funds
would be spent. Beginning in 2010, however, tharddegan to fund projects not
approved by the Bishop, in regions of Sudan Biskgssis contends did not
comply with the Fund’s charitable mission to brnegjef to the people of the Nuba
Mountains?® While Ann testified at trial that the Fund begarsupport projects

outside the Nuba Mountain region only because tbhgton did not have the
infrastructure, and therefore the capacity, to pcedl the capital the Fund was
willing to donaté’—and although the Fund continued to spend ninatygpé of its

donations on projects chosen by Bishop G&bsithe Plaintiff contends that
disagreements regarding how to allocate the Furisations caused the

Defendants to conspire to remove him.

26 See, e.g.P-32 at DEF001972 (email from Hunter-Hall) (“Teés an expressed desire on the
part of the members of the board to expand thedation’s involvement beyond the territory of
the diocese of EI-Obeid in the future.”); P-39 &RD01926 (email from Hunter-Hall) (“It is also
our intention to extend our efforts to the partuthurches which make up the Bishops’
conference of South Sudan and not just the dioaeBeObeid.”).

2" SeeTrial Tr. 41:1-2 (“The diocese did not have the aify or the bandwidth to receive this
money.”);id. at 41:4-16 (“The diocese had one project managehare were many churches
and schools and wells and convents and hospitalsvere working on. With one project
manager. So work was slow. Number two, you hdakiteg in workers and you had to bring in
cement, for instance, building materials from Kemngahis remote region, and that was really
difficult, and it was not difficult—not only diffiglt because of getting planes, but it's because of
the situation in Sudan because it's a war-tornomegust getting people in is hard.”).

?%1d. at 27:19-23.
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The Defendants, on the other hand, resist the tiffarcharacterization that
there existed an insidious plot to remove the Bishmut contend that, motivated
by their fiduciary duties to the Fund’s benefiogsi Ann, Klink, Wagner, and
Coffey began to plan what they hoped would be aotimtransition when Bishop
Gassis ultimately left the Fund, which they expédi® happen at the time of his
mandatory retirement as bishop on his seventy-hitthday. The Defendants
point to four sources of conflict that led to théecision to phase out the Bishop’s
participation in the Fund. First, the Defendantggest that personality conflicts
made it difficult to work with Bishop Gassis, pattiarly in light of what they
characterize as his aggressive communication “8tgled lack of interest in the
Fund’s management,as well as their concern that he may not haveeuethe
Fund’s beneficiaries in the Sudan as gently as twewyld have preferred.
Second, the Defendants explain that they were coadeyy what they considered
to be extravagant spending of donor funds by thelhd throughout his travels.
Third, the Defendants believed that certain prgjelce Fund supported at Bishop
Gassis’s request had been double-funded by othesitiels, raising questions of

accounting for funds spefit.

?91d. at 29:9-15.

01d. at 28:1-7.

31 DX 5; Trial Tr. 36:19-37:1.

32 SeeP-45 at BGF000580 (report by Klink) (noting “exatated levels of spending that [the
board] had seen on the part of Bishop Gassis”).

%3 p-117 at DEF001364.
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Finally, and perhaps most importantly, the Defemslasontend that they
were troubled by Bishop Gassis’'s attitude that thend was his personal
property®® Significantly, the Defendants were alarmed Iny strongly disagreed
with, former director Nina Shea’s assertion at 4@®0oard meeting that “when
[Bishop Gassis] retired or became inactive, thedrshmould ‘sunset’ and distribute
its remaining assets” to the Bishop persongllyBecause the Defendants believed
that the Fund would continue even after Bishop B@sgesignatioft—or
removal, if necessaty—they began to plan for that transition, which tteyped
would occur without scandal, and consequently witha marked decrease in

donations. Further, avoiding conflict appearedthe Defendants a distinct

34 SeeTrial Tr. 29:5-8 (“It was only as the years wemt that | realized he really believed that
this was his organization, and that he wanted tdrobthe organization, and he did not want to
be transparent.”).

% SeeDefs.” Answering Br. in Opp’n to Pl.’s § 225 Claiat 24; Trial Tr. 39:1-5 (“Nina Shea
said when the Bishop retired or resigned thathal money would go to him. And John Klink
said no, the money belongs to the people of Gdsludan. So there was a conflict of vision that
was very clear at that moment in March of 2010d);at 39:8-16 (“Nina Shea and by extension
the Bishop, because she always spoke with the Bjssloe was the only board member the
Bishop spoke to, believed that the organization basscally an extension of the Bishop, and we
believed, and | strongly believed that that wasgidll and that it wasn’t, didn’t abide by the laws
of the I.LR.S., and that it was in conflict with whaur beneficiaries understood about the
organization.”).

% p.31 at DEF001646 (email from Neil to Hunter-HgliMy perspective is that on or before
September 21, 2013, the bishop will lose governasicie diocese; the foundation, in other
words, will, all else being equal, outlast the big!s term of office—and it will also outlive the
bishop.”).

37 See, e.g.P-33 at DEF001633 (email from Hunter-Hall to Ar{ti) have had some time to
reflect on things and to replay the conversationsy head. And | am very concerned about
several scenarios. One came out in the heat ohthment in the exchange with you, which was
critical from my perspective. It concerns this lwbanember [Bishop Gassis] wants appointed.
He said that he would propose him again and agairha will see him on the board. He did not
say one more time . . . in other words, he doe€xpéct to go away next year—or ever.”).
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possibility, as Ann, Wagner, Klink, and Coffey unsteod that, in accordance with
applicable canon law, Bishop Gassis would be reguio resign from his status as
bishop with the Catholic Church on his seventyifitbirthday, in September
2013% and that, upon the Bishop’s retirement with theut€h, he would, in
accordance with the Fund’s Bylaws, also be requweétire from the Fund.
Because the Defendants believed the Fund wouldneentrather than inure
to the benefit of the Bishop personally, after BisiGassis retired, they began to
evaluate what would become of donations after BisGassis’s exit. As part of
that effort, Neil, Ann, Klink, Wagner, and Coffeyyithout Bishop Gassis’s
knowledge, “developed a survey in the fall of 2@4&t was sent out to a sampling
of donors to determine whether they would contitaugive to the [Fund] if Bishop
Gassis was not involved” They also ran tests to determine whether lestens to
donors signed by Neil, or in the name of the “SuBatief Fund,” received fewer
responses than those signed by Bishop Gassis,eimdime of “Bishop Gassis

Sudan Relief Fund®® Ultimately, the Defendants determined to remoke t

38 p_32 at DEF001972 (email from Hunter-Hall) (“Asuyperhaps know, His Excellency Bishop
Gassis will reach the mandatory retirement ageept&nber 2013. The Holy See has already
made provision for the succession through the agpp@nt of a coadjutor, with whom we look
forward to establishing relation in due course.”).

3% Am. Compl. T 1165see alsoP-34 at DEF000621 (email from Neil) (“We need tegin
phasing out of the bishop—he will be retired anidbafard in a year and | don’t want a campaign
built around him—as we have with direct mail[.]P:71.

0 Am. Compl. 1 119; P-40.
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Bishop from the board, regardless of whether thedFeould continue to use his
name going forward.
4. The Board Holds Annual Elections

Prior to May 2011, the Fund had not in recent yeanducted a meeting to
re-elect directors, despite requirements in thedrRurBylaws that a director
election be held annualfy. Specifically, the Bylaws provide that “[t]he [Fdis]
Board shall be self-perpetuating with electiondéoheld at the Annual Meeting,
and the Board members and Officers shall servewoently.”® The Bylaws also
specify that “[tihe members of the Corporation..shall be the members of the
Board of Directors and each Member shall remaineanidler so long as, and only
so long as, such person continues to be a Direcdoperson shall cease to be a
Member at such time as such person ceases to bieeetdd.™® In addition,
“Members, in their capacity as Members, shall haeeright to vote for the
election of members of the Board of Directors orconnection with any other

matter except as may be required by I&.”

“1P|’s Br. in Supp. of § 225 Claim at 10.

2 Bylaws § 3.03see also idat § 3.09 (“The annual meeting of the Board ofebiors for the
election of Directors and for the transaction aftsother business as may properly come before
the meeting shall be held each year at the timepta designated by the Executive Director of
the Corporation.”). The parties agree that thestians provide that directors are elected by the
board.

*1d. at § 2.01.

*1d. at § 2.02.
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The Plaintiff contends that in 2011, the board Ipeigahold annual elections
in an effort to replace Shea and Forte, who wagnatl with Bishop Gassis, with
directors who would support the Bishop’s removalrirthe Fund. By contrast,
Ann testified at trial that the decision to holdhaal elections was a result of (1)
conversations with legal counsel, who had explaitteat the Fund’'s Bylaws
required annual electiof{3{2) ongoing attempts at “professionalizing” thenB{’°
and (3) concerns that arose when Shea expressdithef that the Fund would
“sunset” and assets would be distributed to Bisfgssis personally when he
eventually exited the Fund.

Elections held in 2011 and 2012, as well as a apboard meeting held in
2013, form the basis of this Section 225 disputd,ae described below.

A. The Board Begins to Hold Director Elections

The Plaintiff points to several alleged procedumagularities related to the
board’s decision to elect certain directors, ad aglits failure to re-elect certain
others, between 2011 and 2013. Specifically, then#ff brings procedural

challenges arising out of the board’s failure teelect Nina Shea at a May 14,

%> SeeP-30 at DEFO00064 (May 14, 2011 Board Meeting N&sl (“Neil Corkery told the
board, before it voted on new board members, tharozation’s attorney advised him that the
by-laws required an annual vote to re-elect ther@@nd he recommended this be done in
writing since the election has not taken placénefast couple of years.”); Trial Tr. 45:20-46:1.
% SeeTrial Tr. 34:19-35:1 (“We really wanted to get igth Charity Navigator rating. Charity
Navigator is like a good housekeeping seal of apgdrfor donors that you can give to us. So we
started implementing all those best practices,uthioly transparency and then including the—
increasing board meetings. That's very important.”)

15



2011 annual meeting; the board’s June 2011 eleofidtathleen Hunt and Rodger
Hunter-Hall; the board’s failure to re-elect DaWdrte at a July 28, 2012 annual
meeting; and the board’s decision to cancel aJ0hB8 meeting.

The Fund’s board conducted its first re-electiordioéctors in recent years
at a May 14, 2011 annual board meeting. At thatting, the board unanimously
approved a motion to vote on the re-election oéctrs by written ballot! No
new candidates were proposed for election, buditteetors were asked to vote on
whether each current director, other than Bishogs@a should be re-elect&t.
Ballots, other than those from Wagner and Coffepovattended the meeting
telephonically, were completed and returned to Ngilthe meetin§’® Neil
“explained to the board that based on the adviauohsel, the two members who
were not physically present had faxed their baltotthe Club where the meeting
was being held the night before and were deliveaoedNeil] just prior to the
meeting.®® The completed ballots indicated that the boawti tranimously voted
to re-elect each director except Shea. Bishop i§akerte, and Shea voted for
Shea’s re-election; Ann, Klink, Wagner, and Coffdi@ not. The Plaintiff

challenges the effectiveness of Wagner and Coffegtes, however, contending

*"P-30 at DEF000064.
8 With respect to each director other than Bishopsa the ballot provided a box to mark
“YES re-elect” or “NO Not re-elect.” With respetd Bishop Gassis’s re-election, the ballot
indicated “not applicable.” P-8 at DEF000298.
49

P-29.
° p-30 at DEF000064.
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that Wagner was dropped from his call before therdbdad an opportunity to vote,
and was therefore unable to effectively ratify pre-submitted ballot, and that
Coffey’s pre-submitted ballot was likewise neveified.>* Despite the procedural
objections noted by the Plaintiff, and instead ptiog the pre-submitted ballots as
effective, Neil announced that Shea had been efédgtremoved from the board
by a vote of 4-3.

After Shea’s removal, the board considered noranat for her
replacement. At the May 14 board meeting, Ann tified two potential
nominees: Kathleen Hunt and Father Rodger Huntér>Haln addition, Bishop
Gassis recommended Kevin Phillips, who, accordingthe Plaintiff, held
“Georgetown B.A., JD, and MBA degrees, was an itmest banker and a [Fund]
donor,” and “had extensive experience with the af@en of troubled companies,
cost controls, public disclosures, and IRS filirmguirements . . . ® Although
“[slome board members disagreed with [the Bishopis$essment [of Phillips’s
gualifications],” Ann requested that Neil “researitte internet to find a bio of
Kevin Phillips [to] send the board so he could bestdered with other nominees

by e-mail.”™

1P| ’s Br. in Supp. of § 225 Claim at 11.
°2p.30 at DEF000065.
>3 P|’s Br. in Supp. of § 225 Claim at 12.
®4 p.30 at DEF000065.
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The board did not vote on the nominees’ electiorthat May 14 board
meeting. Instead, Neil circulated resolutionstfar election of Hunt, Hunter-Hall,
and Phillips by email dated May 19, 2011. Thedwoes then delivered their votes
by email between May 14 and Jun& 1Hunt and Hunter-Hall received votes from
all directors but Forte and Bishop Gassis; Bish@ssi and Forte objected to the
vote, contending that Shea had not been validlyoxed. Forte criticized the
board for moving through the nomination and votprgcesses too quickly and
without enough board discussith.In addition, Bishop Gassis sent the board a
lengthy email, explaining that he felt he had b&manfronted with whether [he]
should ‘Coram domino’ accept nominations which we discussed at the
meeting;” expressing frustration that in previowsans “persons chosen by [the

Bishop for membership on the Fund’s board] wereated based on the decision

® See P-14 at DEF000142 (indicating Coffey’s vote for iuand Hunter-Hall); P-19 at
DEF000154 (indicating Wagner’s vote for Hunt, Huritkall, and Phillips).

% See, e.g.P-10 at DEF000139 (indicating, in an email froortE to Neil, that “[rJushing these
motions now is not appropriate. Each needs dismusand further information. In addition,
there are some procedural issues from last wee&&ting that need to be resolved first.”); P-12
(email from Forte to Neil) (“As | briefly stated my earlier communication, the rush to vote on
new board members and on compensation is inapptepat this time. | presume elements of
simply [sic] courtesy to a fellow board membemad| as considerations of due process would
allow for a reasonable time for deliberation, dssian and decision.”); P-15 (email from Forte
to Neil) (“Now do you see why discussion and infatian is the appropriate way we should
proceed? The rush to judgment ‘while we have thtes/ should never be used or be perceived
to be used in any board of directors, especiallg tmt is supposedly based on Christian
principles.”); P-25 at DEF000158 (email from FotteNeil) (“Certainly, common courtesy as
well as the rules of good corporate governance aviall the period in which such a vote could
be taken until the dispute regarding membershifn®toard is resolved. And only when such a
dispute is resolved should further business reggrthe board then be commenced—this time
with sufficient notice to all, especially the Bighaand with sufficient time for consultation and
deliberation.”).
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of one member;” challenging notice and the proceslwsed to remove Shea; and
“‘deem[ing] necessary there should be no vote onrewy person which was not
discussed at the meeting except Mr. Kevin [Phillip5§ Despite Bishop Gassis
and Forte’s objections, based on email votes swbdnibn behalf of the other
directors, Hunt and Hunter-Hall joined the Fund&afd, but Phillips did not. In
response to Bishop Gassis and Forte’s procedujattodns, Neil informed the
board by email that, relying on an opinion from #ad’s legal counsel, he had
concluded that “all of the [procedural] issues e@di®y David Forte have no legal
basis. The actions taken regarding re-electiondiméctors were made in
accordance with the by-laws and relevant statuteglicable to Delaware
registered [501(c)(3)] non-profit entitie¥” Despite the objections of Bishop
Gassis and Forte, neither sought a judicial deteation of the composition of the
board before the next annual meeting.

The board held its next annual meeting to re-aleettors on July 28, 2012.
Bishop Gassis began that meeting with the follovangnous Psalm:

My soul rests in God alone, from whom comes myaaiw.

" p-16 at BISHOP0309-0310 (typeface altered frongiwai); see alsoP-17 at DEF000150
(expressing Forte’s view that “I do not think itasvalid action of the board because the board
does not include Nina Shea, who was illegally reeabfrom the board at the last annual board
meeting. At that time, there was insufficient netigiven in the agenda that there would be an
election of the board members, the vote was he&t &vo members had absented themselves
from the meeting, votes had already been submathedd of time. The action was clearly pre-
planned and the import kept from certain member¢hefboard so that the planned removal
could be effectuated without discussion, noticegpropriate consideration.”).

*% P-24 at BISHOP0336.
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God alone is my rock and my salvation, my securghtel shall

never fall.

How long will you set upon people, all of you begtthem down, as

though they were a sagging fence or battered wall?

Even from my place on high they plot to dislodge me

They delight in lies;

They bless with their mouths, but inwardly theysai?

According to the board meeting minutes, as pahi®fremarks, the Bishop “spent
over an hour criticizing various actions of the Bband the Executive Director
[Neil],” followed by a presentation of expensesbi reimburse® Ann testified
at trial that she believed Bishop Gassis’'s addiedbe board demonstrated how
the animosity that had finally surfaced betweenRbed’s directors would prevent
any meaningful conversation among directors goamg/#rd®*

After the Bishop’s presentation, Neil passed oliblmafor the re-election of
directors. Ann, Hunter-Hall, Coffey, and BishopsSia submitted ballots by hand,
while Forte, Wagner, and Hunt submitted votes byaiem Over the weeks
following the July 28 meeting, Klink held the saladecided—but not decisive—

vote. The Plaintiff points to several email commeations between Klink and

Neil, who at that time vigorously—and, accordingtie Plaintiff, improperly—

%9 P-50 at BISHOP0110; 62 Psalm 2:50.

%0 p.58 at DEF000007.

%l SeeTrial Tr. 58:22-59:4 (“The last board meeting | haith him he screamed and yelled and
anyone there can tell you that he spent most ofithe screaming at me. So for me to have a
meaningful conversation with the Bishop was—I meathink it's impossible. | have never
been treated like | have been by the Bishop—I nseamaming.”).
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encouraged Klink to vote against Forte’s re-elettfeemphasizing that “[Forte] is
a dangerous ally of the bishop to have on the hfdrdnd that “we will be
exposed having him on the board . .** .However, despite pressure from Neil to
vote against Forte’s re-election, and although Klagreed that Forte should be
removed, he declined to so vote because he wighedpport only a unanimous
board decision. Ultimately, the meeting minutedicated that votes “showed all
directors except David Forte re-elect8d based on a vote of 5-3, with only
Bishop Gassis, Forte, and Klink dissenting.

Finally, in June 2013, Neil provided notice to theard that Bishop Gassis
wished to schedule a board meeting for mid-SulySeveral directors—but fewer
than would prevent a quorum—indicated that theyewaravailable to attend the
meeting, and debated whether it would be preferableancel the meeting, or to
permit the meeting to go forward, enabling]H§ Bishop [to] yell and
scream . . . ¥ Neil expressed his desire for the meeting toaywdrd without a
guorum so that Bishop Gassis could vent his frtistta with the board but no
board action could be taken. However, despite’'Nedquest that Hunter-Hall

intentionally avoid the meeting in order to prevamjuorum, Hunter-Hall insisted

®2p|’s Br. in Supp. of § 225 Claim at 18-19.
®3 p.53 at DEF000616.

®4 p.60 at DEF000607.

%5 p.58 at DEF000008.

% p_75 at DEF0005509.

7 p.75.
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on attending any scheduled board meeting, belieitimgpuld be immoral and a
breach of his fiduciary duties to do otherwi$e.The Plaintiff suggests that,
without Hunter-Hall’'s cooperation, Neil decided tancel the July meeting.
However, Ann testified at trial that, in additioa its inconvenient timing, the
meeting was cancelled because some directors fattertHall had a separate
agenda in speaking to Bishop Gassis concerning dfitiall’s interest not as a
board member but as a father of the Chifalegarding the Bishop’s service as a
bishop, rather than a director. Those directoliewed Hunter-Hall had an interest
in “poking” Bishop Gassis “in the eye,” despite thtber directors’ continued hope

for a quiet transition after the Bishop’s severifihfbirthday in Septembéf.

®8 SeeP-83 (email from Hunter-Hall to Wagner) (“Apparantthere is a thought that there may
not be a quorum for the meeting next Saturdaym rather troubled by this approach as I think
it is even more harmful at this point. . . . | amry concerned about the prospect of willfully
absenting myself from the board meeting.”); P-8hd# from Neil to Klink) (“Let me know if
you can change Fr. Rodgers [sic] mind—Ann agreéls you particularly in light of the e malil
just received from Gassis that the best coursetadfrais no meeting at all.”).

%9 SeeP-92 at DEF001085 (email from Neil to Ann) (“It w&. Rodger who initiated the
communication with [the Apostolic Nuncio to SudaAhd [J]ohn tells me that Fr. has been
given a list of questions from [the Nuncio] thatwants him to ask [G]assis at the meeting. It
have not talked to Father but it is obvious he drasigenda different from others since we think
the Fund is not a church institution.”).

9 See id(“The game plan as | saw this board meeting wagetdhrough without [G]assis going
nuclear. We need him to keep functioning in the/\Wwa has until it is clear who will replace
him, who will the south sudan nuncio be, who withdoy and direct all the logistical folks in
[N]airobi etc etc. If [G]assis takes his marblesl ggoes away we won't get hurt, the people on
the ground in Gidel will.”); Trial Tr. 61:3-14 (“Faer Rodger Hunter-Hall had come across
information that greatly disturbed him about thestgip. And he decided he was going to
confront the Bishop. ... That's what we undesgto So we believed, the majority of the board
believed, that it would be beyond counter-prodwectiy poke the Bishop in the eye. Just a few
months before he would be leaving, anyway. Soheedht it was better to not attend. So there
was no quorum and the meeting was canceled.”).
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B. The Board Removes Bishop Gassis

On August 16, 2013, the Fund’'s directors receigetNotice of Special
Meeting,” indicating that a special meeting wasestthed for August 24, 2013.
While the Notice stated that “Proposed Amendmenptsthe bylaws will be
considered by the Board of Directors . ."! the Plaintiff contends that, prior to
that meeting, “[tjhe Board provided Bishop Gassithwo meaningful information
on the meeting’s purpose until they served Bishagsds with five proposed
resolutions 36 hours before the August 24, 2013ting&™® On August 24, 2013,
the board began the special meeting by votingacteil to the Fund’s board and
to serve as President of the Fund; Klink, Wagneiff&y, Hunt, and Ann voted in

favor of his election, while Bishop Gassis and Hwttall did not”

"' DX 58 at BISHOP0451.

2 Am. Compl. at 7. Despite that contention, their®ii does not argue that the Bishop’s
removal should be invalidated on the basis thatiienot receive adequate notice as required by
the Fund’s Bylaws. Pl.’s Br. in Supp. of § 225i@laat 49-57. All directors received notice of
the meeting on August 16, 2013, seven days pritli@éaneeting, as required by the Bylav&ee
Bylaws 8§ 3.12 (“Special meetings of the Board ofelbiors or any committee thereof may be
called by the Executive Director on notice to eBafector . . . either personally, or by telephone,
telegram, facsimile, or other means of wire comroaiidon, at least one (1) day prior to such
meeting or by mail at least seven (7) days prisuch meeting.”). Further, despite a section in
the Bylaws providing that “[n]either the businesshie transacted at, nor the purpose of, any
regular or special meeting of the Directors . eedh be specified in any written of notice [sic]
unless so required by the Certificate of Incorpgorator these bylaws,” Bylaws § 4.02, the
Plaintiff acknowledges that Bishop Gassis receieggies of the resolutions more than twenty-
four hours prior to the special meeting, on Augist2013. Pl.’s Br. in Supp. of § 225 Claim at
24.

®P-118 at DEF000130.

23



The purpose of the special meeting was to perreitiard to vote on five
resolutions purporting to remove Bishop Gassis asdiractor of the Fund.
Resolution 1 read, in part:

Whereas,_on September 21, 2013is Excellency Bishop
Macram Max Gassis will reach the age of 75, whgthe mandatory
retirement age for Bishops of the Catholic Chuesid . . .

Whereas, from and after September 21, 2@i8hop Gassis
will no longer be the Bishop of El Obeid Diocesasd . . .

Whereas, it is important to the Corporation to easthe
smooth and proper transition of the Corporation #&sdcharitable
mission from and after Bishop Gassis’s departwefhis position as
Bishop of El Obeid Dioceses, and

Whereas, it is not in the best interests of Biskéassis, the
Corporation, or the beneficiaries of the work oé tGorporation for
there to be a public dispute of any kind betweenGrporation and
the Bishop,

The Board of Directors of the Corporation herebsotves as follows:

RESOLVED, that the term of office of Bishop Gassis
Chairman of the Corporation shall expire at midhigh September
20, 2013, unless terminated earlier as describa@dniution adopted
by the Board of Directors at the special meetinghagust 24, 2013.

FURTHER RESOLVED, Bishop Gassis shall cease to be a
director of the Corporation effective at midnight &eptember 20,
2013 and a vacancy in that board position is dedldo exist as of
that datée’’*

Resolution 2 purported to strike Section 3.04 of thund’'s Bylaws, which
provided that “[tlhe Chairman of the Board shall Hes Excellency, Bishop
Macram Max Gassis, Bishop of El Obeid Diocese, Sudde shall serve in this

position until his retirement or resignatioff.” Resolution 3 clarified the officer

"4p-117 at DEF001361.
> Bylaws § 3.04.
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positions that existed within the Fund. Resolutdoset out allegations against the
Bishop regarding his “canonical status . . . imtieh to his appointment as Bishop
of the El Obeid,” as well as suspicions that widspect to projects requested by
Bishop Gassis, “funding may have been separatalypaeviously funded by other
sources . . . ® Resolution 5 resolved to “advise counsel to Bistassis of the
Board’s willingness to enter into an agreement whgrthe Bishop, his name,
likeness and goodwill are allowed to play a contigurole with and for the
Corporation,” but also that “a role for Bishop Gassn behalf of the Corporation
shall not include any authority to direct fundstioé Corporation unless otherwise
specifically directed or approved by the Boaft.”

Klink, Wagner, Coffey, Hunt, Ann, and Neil votead iffavor of each
resolution, and Bishop Gassis voted against eadiuton. Hunter-Hall abstained
from voting on Resolutions 1, 2, and 3, but votetavor of Resolutions 4 and’5.

5. The Bylaws

Three Bylaw provisions bear on the board’s autiidotexecute the actions

purportedly undertaken at the August 24, 2013 boaedting. First, Section 3.06

states that “[a]ny Director elected to the Boarddotctors may be removed at any

° p.117 at DEF001364. Ann Corkery testified thas tresolution was included as a way to
provide Bishop Gassis notice of allegations against if he wished to respond and continue to
have a relationship with the Fund after his removal

" P-117 at DEF001367.

8 p-118 at DEF000131.
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time, with or without cause, by the affirmative @odf two-thirds (2/3) of the
members of the Board of Directors then in offié&.The parties dispute whether
that provision is applicable to Bishop Gassis.

Second, as noted above, Section 3.04 provides(|titae Chairman of the
Board shall be His Excellency, Bishop Macram Maxss$is, Bishop of El Obeid
Diocese, Sudan. He shall serve in this positioril ums retirement or
resignation.’® That Section was enacted as part of a 2002 ameamtdto the
Fund’s Bylaws. The parties dispute what is megnteberence to Bishop Gassis’s
“retirement” in Section 3.04 of the Bylaws; the iRtdf contends that “retirement”
refers to Bishop Gassis’s voluntary retirement fitbwn Fund, while the Defendants
contend that “retirement” refers to his requiredireenent, in accordance with
applicable canon law, as a bishop of the Cathohar€h. Although in August
2013 the Defendants commissioned a report fronxpareéon canon law, opining
that Bishop Gassis would be required to retire flamposition as bishop on his
seventy-fifth birthday' Bishop Gassis was unaware of that report or the
Defendants’ interpretation of Section 3.04 untigly before August 24, 2013, the

date on which he was removed from the Fund’s b¥fardowever, setting aside

"9 Bylaws § 3.06.

®91d. at § 3.04.

8 Am. Compl. { 144; P-31 at DEF001646 (email fronil k& Hunter-Hall) (“{W]ould love to
get together before the meet tonight to discus$Ghassis memo.”).

8 Pl.’s Br. in Supp. of § 225 Claim at 10.
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the appropriate interpretation of Section 3.04, Befendants contend that the
board effectively repealed that Section at the At@4 board meeting. Thus, the
third Bylaw provision at issue in this litigatios Bection 7.08, which states that
“[tihe Certificate of Incorporation and the Bylawsay be altered, amended, or
repealed and new Bylaws may be adopted by theraffive vote of a majority of
the members of the Board of Directors then in effiproviding that prior notice
has been given to all members of the Board of Dorscin accordance with the
notice provisions set out in Article IV hereif?”
. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The Plaintiff filed his Verified Complaint in thiaction on September 6,
2013, seeking relief on fifteen counts. On SepwmiB, 2013, | granted the
Plaintiff's Motion to Expedite on two categories those counts: counts brought
pursuant to ®el. C.8§ 225, and counts alleging the Fund’s improperaid&ishop
Gassis’'s name and likeness. On October 1, 20E3 D#fendants notified the
Court that the Fund had ceased to use Bishop Gassisie, mooting the need to
expedite those claims. Then, in December 201&fibg was stayed while the
parties participated in mediation. The partiesiinfed the Court in February 2014
that mediation had been unsuccessful, and on Fgbf 2014, | informed the

parties that they should prepare the Plaintiff's 28unts for trial.

8 Bylaws § 7.08.
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On April 6, 2014, the Plaintiff filed his VerifieBirst Amended Complaint,
asserting fourteen counts against the Defendafitsose count$ include: (1) a
count for breach of fiduciary duty; (II) a countrpuant to 8Del. C. § 220 for
books and records; (lll) a count pursuant t®é. C. 8 225 to reinstate Bishop
Gassis, Nina Shea, and David Forte as directoth@fund’s board; (IV) a count
for misappropriation of Bishop Gassis's name arkress; (V) a count for
common law trademark infringement; (VI) a countugbt pursuant to Bel. C.8
2532, the Delaware Deceptive Trade Practices Adt) @ count for waste of
corporate assets; (VIII) a count for civil conspiya(IX) a count for a declaratory
judgment that Bishop Gassis remains on the Fund&dy (X) a count for the
appointment of a receiver or custodian; (XI) a ddona constructive trust; (XIl) a
count for the appointment of a master to overseararual election of directors;
(XIl) a count for injunctive relief preventing theund’s board from taking any
action inconsistent with recognizing Bishop Gassistatus as Chairman of the
Board and a director of the Fund; and (XIV) a codiot injunctive relief
preventing the Fund from using Bishop Gassis’s nanttlikeness.

On April 21, 2014, the Defendants filed a Moti@nRismiss all counts of
the Verified First Amended Complaint. On May 71201 held a one-day trial on

the counts related to the Plaintiff's Section 22&4m, and heard oral argument on

8 The numbered counts in the Verified First Amen@emnplaint begin at “Il;” | present those
counts here in the order they are listed in thafiéerFirst Amended Complaint.
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the Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss. In the interefsproviding the parties a quick
resolution of the Section 225 claim, | address ofitypse counts in this
Memorandum Opinion.
[ll. ANALYSIS

The Plaintiff seeks relief underi®l. C.§ 225, which provides that “[u]pon
application of any stockholder or director, or afficer whose title to office is
contested, the Court of Chancery may hear and rdeterthe validity of any
election, appointment, removal or resignation oy airector or officer of any
corporation . . . ® The Plaintiff seeks to invalidate:

(a) the removal of Nina Shea in May 2011 basedromealid vote;
(b) the improper election of Defendants Father Kuhtall and
Kathleen Hunt in June 2011; (c) the failure to @y consider and
follow appropriate procedures for holding an elattion Kevin
Phillips as a nominee, particularly in 2011 and 20) the invalid
election that resulted in David Forte’s removahirthe Board in July
and August 2012; (e) the failure to hold an anmlettion in July 20,
2013 after the meeting was scheduled for such gerpod a quorum
secured (which was later intentionally undermingf))the removal of
Bishop Gassis with the August 24, 2013 Resolutiggsthe election
of Neil Corkery to the Board on August 24, 2013d &n) the election
of Neil Corkery as President of the Corporationfamust 24, 2015°

8 8 Del. C.§ 225(a).
8 Am. Compl. 1 252.
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The Plaintiff bears the burden to demonstrate that director removals he
challenges should be invalidat&d.

In the following analysis, | first consider theaRitiff's contention that (1)
Bishop Gassis’s removal from the Fund in 2013 ghde invalidated on the basis
that his removal failed to comply with the Fund'gl®vs and (2) his removal
should be invalidated in equity because the remmaalstituted a breach of
fiduciary duty. | then separately consider whetteemvalidate the Fund’'s 2011
and 2012 elections.

1. Removal of Bishop Gassis

In challenging the board’s August 2013 decisioretmove Bishop Gassis as
a director of the Fund, the Plaintiff draws a aistion between void and voidable
corporate actions, suggesting that actions of adoofdirectors taken in violation
of a corporation’s governing documents are void] #merefore not subject to
equitable defenses, while board actions arising aduinequitable conduct are
voidable, even if “legally possiblé® The Plaintiff accordingly contends that

Bishop Gassis's removal was both void, as violatif¢he Fund’'s Bylaw&? and

87 Seeln re IAC/InterActive Corp 948 A.2d 471, 493 (Del. Ch. 2008) (“Liberty, the plaintiff

in the 225 Action, bears the burden of proving bgraponderance of the evidence that it is
entitled to relief.”).

8 SeePl.’s Br. in Supp. of § 225 Claim at 30-31 (qugtBchnell v. Chris-Craft Indus., In285
A.2d 437, 439 (Del. 1971)).

8 The Plaintiff does not challenge the Bylaw promisiby which directors remove directors.
Notably, when translated for application to nonktoorporations, &el. C. 8§ 141(k) provides
that “[a]Jny member of the governing body of thepmation or the entire governing body of the
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voidable, as a result of the Defendants’ inequ#abbnduct. | address those
arguments in turn, below.
A. The Fund’s Bylaws Permitted Bishop Gassis’s Ramo

The Plaintiff contends that the Court must invalel the board’s action
removing Bishop Gassis as a director of the Furdee (1) Resolution 1, though
it interpreted Bylaw Section 3.04, did not purportemove Bishop Gassis, and (2)
even if Resolution 1 did purport to remove him,tth@moval violated several
provisions of the Fund’s Bylaws$.

As an initial matter, the Plaintiff's contentiomat the August 24 resolutions
did not by their express language purport to rentigbop Gassis from the Fund’s
board must fail. Although Resolution 1 referredttte mandatory retirement age
for Bishops of the Catholic Church” and Bishop Gsissapproaching seventy-fifth

birthday, it also unambiguously stated:

corporation may be removed, with or without caulsg,the holders of a majority of the
memberships then entitled to vote at an electiothefmembers of the governing body of the
corporation . . . .” That provision vests the powe remove directors in a nonstock
corporation’s members, not its director&ee Nevins v. BryaB85 A.2d 233, 251-52 (Del. Ch.
2005) (citingRohe v. Reliance Training Network, In2000 WL 1038190, at *11 n.30 (Del. Ch.
July 21, 2000)) (“[B]y negative implication interdi®y the draftsmen, directors do not have the
authority to remove other directors.”). Howeveecton 141(j) provides, in part, that “[tlhe
certificate of incorporation of any nonstock comgarn may . . . provide that the business and
affairs of the corporation shall be managed in aamea different from that provided in this
section.” Accordingly, the Fund’s Certificate ofcbrporation states that “Section 141(f) and
Section 141(k) of the Delaware General Corporatiamv shall not apply to or govern the
Corporation.” Certificate of Incorporation 8 7.

%0p|.’s Br. in Supp. of § 225 Claim at 49-52.
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RESOLVED, that the term of office of Bishop Gassis
Chairman of the Corporation shall expire at midhigh September
20, 2013, unless terminated earlier as describagdnlution adopted
by the Board of Directors at the special meetinghagust 24, 2013.
FURTHER RESOLVED, Bishop Gassis shall cease to be a
director of the Corporation effective at midnight &eptember 20,
2013 and a vacancy in that board position is dedldo exist as of
that date”
The Defendants interpret Section 3.04 as manddtiag Bishop Gassis remain
Chairman only until his retirement as bishop, ratttlgan from the board of
directors. That understanding, summarized in tatals to Resolution 1, is
informed by the board’s reading of Section 3.04ichistates that Bishop Gassis
“shall serve in this position until his retiremenmtresignation.” Without deciding
whether the Defendants’ interpretation of Sectiod43s correct as a matter of
contract law’ | find that the Resolution’s language clearly unakes to remove
Bishop Gassis from the Fund’s board effective Saptr 20. In other words,

although the board acknowledged in Resolution 1 iteanterpretation of Section

3.04 informed its decision to remove Bishop Gagsis, Resolution by its plain

1 P.117 at DEF001361.

2| note, however, that the Defendants have predemmmpelling explanation for interpreting
Section 3.04 as requiring Bishop Gassis’s exit fribvd Fund upon his retirement as a bishop
from the Catholic Church. Importantly, the Fundtdbutes donations through religious
channels, and in order for the Fund to distribudrations to beneficiaries, those donations must
be accepted and put to use by individuals on tlwairgt in Sudan—namely, the bishop of
whichever diocese a project is located. | finlikiely that the board’s intent in adopting Section
3.04 was to include Bishop Gassis as Chairman smlpng as he was implementing donations
on behalf of the Fund in his position as Bishophef EI Obeid Diocese.
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language does not make his removal contingent @n dbrrectness of that
interpretation.

The Plaintiff also argues that Bishop Gassis’'s neahoviolated Bylaw
Sections 3.06 and 3.04. Section 3.06 states faity’ Director elected to the
Board of Directors may be removed at any time, wathwithout cause, by the
affirmative vote of two-thirds (2/3) of the membarfsthe Board of Directors then
in office.” While the Defendants contend that Bishop Gassis effectively
removed by six of eight directors in accordancehvBection 3.06, the Plaintiff
disagrees, suggesting that, according to Secti@®, 3only directorslectedto the
Board may be removed without cause,” and that “Biskeassis, of course, was
not elected to the Board™ Instead, the Plaintiff contends that Bishop Gassis
appointedas a director by Section 3.04, which states: gtthairman of the Board
shall be His Excellency, Bishop Macram Max Gas8ishop of El Obeid Diocese,
Sudan. He shall serve in this position until leisrement or resignatior’””

Although the Plaintiff's interpretation of Sect®r3.04 and 3.06—that,
because Section 3.04 states that the Chairmanl is@aBishop Gassis, he was
appointed rather thanelected to the Fund’'s board—is perhaps plausible, that

reading is not the only reasonable interpretatibthose sections. In any event,

% Bylaws § 3.06.
% Pl.’s Br. in Supp. of § 225 Claim at 50.
% Bylaws § 3.04.
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my analysis must be informed by the crucial faet BBishop Gassis was a director
of the Fund before Section 3.04 was added to threl’EiBylaws in 2002° Of
course, that Section did not appoint the Bishop tlirector seat he already held.
Further, Bishop Gassis was not designated a directothe Fund’s initial
incorporation documents, and accordingly, he maseltbeen elected at some time
between the Fund’'s incorporation and the enactn@ntthe 2002 Bylaw
amendments, notwithstanding the Fund’s poor rekeaping in that regard. As a
result, although the Fund’s records do not indiedten Bishop Gassis was elected
to the Fund’s board, the only reasonable inferdhe¢ may be drawn from the
record before me is that Bishop Gassis was in ébetted as a director at some
point between the Fund’s incorporation and the tidof Section 3.04” As an
elected director, Section 3.06 permits Bishop G&ssemoval with or without
cause.

The Plaintiff additionally suggests that becauseti®n 3.04 was adopted
after Section 3.06, it was intended to modify pplecation. He therefore argues:

Now, since § 3.04, making Bishop Gassis the “pesnaighairman”

was passed witB 3.06 in existence, and passed at the same tirBe as

3.03 calling annual elections for the full non-sified Board, then

that meant the Board wrote those provisions with@ in mind, and

intended Bishop Gassis to be immune: (1) from ahelgation of the
non-classified Board under 8§ 3.03, and (b) from aeah without

% Trial Tr. 246:4-6.
7| so find notwithstanding the board’s failure tote on the Bishop’s re-election in 2011 and
2012.
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cause under 8§ 3.06 which applied only to directdested annually
under § 3.03°

| find that argument unpersuasive. As the Defetgdaarrectly point out, Section
3.04 by its plain terms in no way constrains thehBp’s removal as @irector, but
states only that he “shall be” the Chairman ofBloard—an officer, not a director.
Moreover, Section 3.04 itself is subject to Sectit®8, which authorizes a
majority of directors to alter, amend, or reped Bylaws. Section 3.04 contains
no language providing its own immunity from repealder Section 7.08. The
board always had the ability, by majority vote répeal Section 3.04 and remove
the Bishop from his position as Chairman.

The Plaintiff alternatively argues that “the majprthat favored the bylaw
amendment [removing Section 3.04] comprised dirsctdo had not been validly
seated on the Board,” and that the amendment shbel@fore be invalidated.
That argument must be rejected, however, becaweseiel/were to find that Hunt,
Hunter-Hall, and Neil ultimately had no valid claitm their director seats, that
finding would not invalidate prior actions of thedrd. InHockessin Community
Center, Inc. v. Swiff this Court addressed a challenge to certain iddals’
statuses as directors based on procedural defiegenctheir election. The Court

explained that “[tlhe failure of the [corporatiotd follow corporate formalities

% p|'s Reply Br. at 15-16 (emphasis removed).
%959 A.3d 437 (Del. Ch. 2012).
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when adding directors does not cause those indisdistatus as directors to
evaporate. It rather confers on them the statusdeffacto directors.*®
Summarizing the relevant case law, the Court erptii
A [d]e factodirector is one who is in possession of and egegithe
powers of that office under claim and color of éteon, although he
Is not a directofd]e jure and may be removed by proper proceedings.
Where a director assumes office pursuant to agufee election in
violation of the provisions of the corporate chgrtee achieves only
[d]e facto status which may be successfully attacked by the
stockholders®™
Furthermore, although the defendards’ factodirector status subjected them to
removal at a future annual election, the Court ibpdor, otherwise-valid actions
taken by the boartf? Indeed, it would be troubling to accept an akikre rule
that required the Court to call into question ati@ns taken by a corporation’s
board of directors from the occurrence of any pdaocal irregularity to the time of
challenge, which may span the course of severalsydwere, all board actions
taken over the past three years, since May 2010|dnme subject to challengd.

therefore find that, even if Hunt, Hunter-Hall, aNdil were merelye factorather

thande juredirectors, Bishop Gassis’s removal could not balidated on that

194, at 459.

19114, (citing Prickett v. Am. Steel & Pump Cor253 A.2d 86, 88 (Del. Ch. 1969)).

192 5ee idat 462-63 (finding that a board meeting calledalmle factodirector had been validly
called, convened, and conducted, and that an afitiorg four board vacancies taken by a
quorum of five directors, four of whom wede factodirectors, was a valid action of the board);
id. at 463 (finding that a board action removing thenpany’s president was taken by a quorum
of seven directors, three of whom wele factodirectors and four of whom had been validly
appointed byle factodirectors, was a valid action of the board).
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basis. As a result, to the extent Section 3.0degulany limit on the board’s ability
to remove Bishop Gassis, that Section was effdgtiremoved by an affirmative
vote of a majority of at leaste factodirectors, pursuant to Section 7.08 of the
Fund’s Bylaws. Further, even if | were to set adite votes cast by Hunt, Hunter-
Hall, and Neil, Bishop Gassis would have been Walidmoved by the affirmative
vote of a super-majority of the remaining directe#snn, Coffey, and Wagner—
who would in that case constitute three-quarteth®entire board.
B. The Board’s Alleged Inequitable Conduct

The Plaintiff additionally argues that, even ishiemoval was not void,
Bishop Gassis’'s removal was voidable. Accordinghe Plaintiff requests the
Court, underSchnelf'®® to return the Bishop to his seat on the board tduthe
Defendants’ inequitable conduct in connection with removal. The Plaintiff
identifies two bases on which the Court should liaase the Bishop’s removal.

First, the Plaintiff suggests that the Court sHowmvalidate the Bishop’s
removal because he was removed in retaliation ferogsing his rights under 8
Del. C.8 220. Shortly before the July 20, 2013 scheduotedting, Bishop Gassis
submitted a Section 220 request for books and dscofhe Plaintiff accordingly
contends that the “Defendants’ retaliation agalBishop Gassis for exercising his

legitimate rights as a director was a breach ofididry duty and rendered his

193 3Schnell v. Chris-Craft Indus., In@285 A.2d 437 (Del. 1971).
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removal invalid.*** That argument, however, is unsupported by therceand
runs counter to the Plaintiff's own contention, staimtiated by the evidence, that
the Defendants had plannethce May 2011for the mandatory retirement or
removal of the Bishop. Additionally, the Plaintffargument that the reasons
stated in the August 2013 resolutions were meretéuts” for removing the
Bishop is equally unpersuasive; as | have explaiabdve, his removal was
permissible with or without cause, pursuant to ®ac8.06. In any event, | find
from the record that the board was motivated by ploécy and personality
conflicts described above, and that “retaliationt £xercise of his rights under
Section 220 was not its motive for removing Bisl@éxgssis.

Second, the Plaintiff contends that the Court &hdovalidate Bishop
Gassis’s removal as it constituted a breach ofbib@d’s fiduciary duties. To
whom the board of directors of a non-profit, nooktoorporation owes a fiduciary
duty is an issue explored by our Supreme Courttssiten in Oberly v. Kirby™®
In that case, the Supreme Court addressed claiog)btr by removed directors of
a nonstock charitable corporation, who sought t@lidate their removal on the
basis of procedural deficiencies and purported direat fiduciary duty. With

respect to the latter issue, the Supreme Couraaea that:

194p| 's Br. in Supp. of § 225 Claim at 53-54.
195 Oberly v. Kirby 592 A.2d 445 (Del. 1991).
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[The] [p]laintiffs are not shareholders . . . anavé no legitimate
expectation of financial benefit from the operatminthe [charitable
corporation]. While they have the right as oustig@ctors, to seek
judicial review of [the defendant director’s] act®as a fiduciary, the

focus of that scrutiny is limited to (a) any finadcharm or jeopardy

to the [charitable corporation] itself and its bieciaries and (b) any

personal benefit to [the defendant director] or Hamily,

notwithstanding the absence of harm to the [cHalgtaorporation}®
The Court stated in summary that where a corparaso‘created for a limited
charitable purpose rather than a generalized lssiperpose, those who control it
have a special duty #dvance its charitable goand protect its assets”

The Plaintiff here contends that the Bishop’s reat@onstituted a breach of
the board’s fiduciary duties. It is unclear, hoeewhether the Plaintiff means to
suggest that the removal constituted a breach of dwed to Bishop Gassis
personally as a member of the Fund, or owed td-thred’s beneficiaries. To the
extent the Plaintiff believes the board owed adidry duty to Bishop Gassis as a
member, that suggestion is contrary to the Supr@met’s holding inKirby. As
noted above, that decision made clear that a n@ihmtwaritable corporation’s

board owes fiduciary duties to ieneficiaries not to its memberguamembers or

directors qua directors:®® Further, while Ann’s testimony at trial impredise

%4, at 462.

1971d. (emphasis added).

1% 5ee idat 463 (“[The director defendant’s] actions maylwe viewed as exhibiting ‘a lack of
brotherly regard’ but in his capacity as member dinelctor of the [charitable corporation], [the
director defendant] owed no fiduciary duties toesttirectors, only to the [corporation].”). The
Plaintiff disagrees with this interpretationkirby, explaining that in that case the plaintiffs were
directors but not members of the corporation. WhHwffails to acknowledge, however, is that
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referred to Bishop Gassis as a “beneficiary” of Bend:’® the Bishop’s own
testimony at deposition made clear that in fadsht a beneficiary, but a “voice”
of and conduit to the Fund’s beneficiali@s-the Sudanese people for whom the
Fund was established’

In addition, to the extent the Plaintiff argudse tBishop’'s removal
constituted a breach of the board’s fiduciary duteeits beneficiaries in Sudan, the
Plaintiff has not put forward any evidence suffnti¢o rebut the presumption that
the Bishop’s removal was a product of the boardlsdvbusiness judgment. The
Kirby Court provides the standard by which | must exantime actions of the
board:

A court cannot second-guess the wisdom of facnadlyd decisions

made by charitable fiduciaries, any more than i caestion the

business judgment of the directors of a for-prafrporation.

However, because the Foundation was created farited charitable
purpose rather than a generalized business purhmss who control

members of a charitable nonstock corporation doasanembers have an economic interest in
the corporation; rather, it is the beneficiariesowtave an economic interest, and accordingly, it
is the beneficiaries to whom fiduciary duties aned.

199 SeeTrial Tr. 27:19-28:1 (“You know, on the board, iesreally clear there was two roles of
the Bishop. He was primarily the beneficiary & tirganization so he received about 90 percent
of all funding over the course of the organizatiorhis diocese. So he was a beneficiary and he
was also a board member and as a board membed hetdexcel.”).

110 seeBishop Gassis Dep. Vol. Il 24:10-16 (“l am not theneficiary. Let me put it clearly. |
am the voice of the beneficiaries. . . . | hopse thclear. | am the voice of the [voicelesshisT
Board was actually created for the beneficiarie$ for me.”).

11 The Plaintiff suggests that the board owed BisBagsis a fiduciary duty “as a member with
valid property and equitable interests in the Furidl.’s Reply Br. at 19. The Plaintiff can cite
no basis for that contention, however. Ratheanithing, the Bylaws may have created some
contractual rights for the Plaintiff. And whileePlaintiff suggests he has a property interest in
the Fund, he in fact had only a property inteneshe use of his name and likeness, an interest he
is vigorously seeking to vindicate independentisffiduciary duty claims.
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it have a special duty to advance its charitablalggand protect its

assets. Any action that poses a palpable andifidbid threat to

those goals, or that jeopardizes its assets woelddntrary to the

Certificate and henaeltra vires'*
While the Plaintiff suggests that the Corkerys wanetivated by enhancing their
own control over the affairs of the Fund and inremthing themselves on the
Board,™* weighing the record evidence and credibility ofAntestimony at trial,
| find that no such insidious motives existed. ampntly, the Defendants at all
times constituted a majority of directors on theadge—who, under the Fund’'s
Bylaws, had exclusive control over director eleasie-and so the suggestion that
the Corkerys acted to remove the Bishop in an eftoentrench themselves has no
logical force. The Plaintiff suggests that “[t]i&oard’s active conspiracy to
prevent a quorum at the July 2013 annual meetingtitated a shocking breach of
fiduciary duty to the Corporation and to its beoiafiies,” but has not
demonstrated how that is §4. There is no indication in the record that, hael th
July meeting gone forward with a quorum, the boaodld have taken any action
that would—or even could—have impeded a majoritytred board’s ability to

remove the Bishop at the August 2013 meeting. I8rtyj the Plaintiff's

contention that the Defendants acted “to enharae dlvn reputations and stature”

112 Oberly, 592 A.2d at 462 (citations omitted).
113p| 's Answering Br. in Opp’n to Defs.’ Mot. to Disss at 25.
114 p| s Br. in Supp. of § 225 Claim at 47.
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Is simply insufficient to demonstrate an invalidagtiinterest in the Bishop’s
removal*™®

Further, to the extent the Plaintiff suggests tiat Defendants sought to
remove Bishop Gassis in an effort to deviate framEund’s charitable purpose of
providing relief to Sudanese people in the Nuba Main region, that argument
finds little support in the record. The Fund’s mate of Incorporation expressly
provides that the Fund’s charitable purpose is fmoited to” providing relief in
the Nuba Mountains?® Bishop Gassis himself has supported projects idasu
outside of the Nuba Mountains in the pa$tAnn credibly testified at trial that the
Fund began to support projects outside of the Ndbantains in 2010 because
that region did not have the capacity to accepthallfunding the Fund was able to
provide® and the record indicates that the board was pilynarotivated by
factors other than disagreements regarding whgtgisoto support when the board
determined it was in the best interests of the fi@ages of the Fund to remove
Bishop Gassis. In any event, nothing in the reaondicates that the charitable

interests of the Defendants are incompatible withdims of the Fund as stated in

its Certificate of Incorporation.

15 The Plaintiff also contends that Hunter-Hall acted of a “well-documented personal dislike
of Bishop Gassis.”Id. at 40. Hunter-Hall did not vote in favor of Bigh&@assis's removal,
however.

116 Certificate of Incorporation § 3(1)-(2).

17 see, e.gTrial Tr. 42:4-43:9.
118 Id
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In fact, the record supports the Defendants’ aurda that they acted to
remove Bishop Gassis not out of self-interest,dattause the directors believed it
was in the best interests of the beneficiariehiefRund to do so. The Defendants
have identified some of their reasons for remouighop Gassis, including (1)
personality conflicts that made him a difficult ettor with whom to work; (2)
their negative perception of his interactions with Fund’s beneficiaries in Sudan;
(3) concerns about the Bishop’s extravagant spgnttiroughout his travels, as
well as other disagreements about his lifestylé thight reflect negatively on the

Fund;*®

(4) their suspicion that the Bishop’s projects badn double-funded; and
(5) what the board perceived as Bishop Gassis'efb#tlat he had a personal
ownership interest in the Fund and its assetsth&gyrthe directors had business
reasons for strategically timing his removal: Anmedibly testified at trial that the
board’'s less-than-transparent plan to remove th&hdp on his seventy-fifth

birthday was motivated by an interest in smoothdynsitioning Bishop Gassis out

of the Fund in an effort not to disrupt the flowdsfnations from donor$’ Those

9d. at 52:13-17.

1201d. at 30:20-31:7 (“The reason why | tolerated it isestfof all, | was a very strong board
member, and | absolutely was always respectfulito but | always spoke the truth. In that
board meeting, | knew that the Bishop would begmisig in September of 2013, and then
according to our bylaws when he resigned as thiedpi®f El Obeid diocese he would no longer
be the chair of our organization. So | believedads in the best interests of our beneficiaries,
and | actually believed it was in the best inteyadtthe Bishop, to keep my head down and to
get through one more year because he would benigdyiid. at 40:4-8 (“So what | hoped and
what | wanted was there to be a peaceful transiiban he resigned. But the Fund would go
on. | mean as you can see now there’s more nemdshan ever in Sudan. | mean just reading
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acts, based on the record evidence, were motivatettie Defendants’ desire to
protect the interests of the beneficiaries of thad-in Sudan, the only people who
would be harmed if donations ceased due to a standatably, except with
respect to the Corkerys (and the Bishop himsdigrd is no allegation of self-
interest; all other directors were independent @isthterested. The record is clear
that all the Defendants have understood that theéuciary duties run to the
suffering people of Sudan, despite the partiesaglisement as to how best to
satisfy those duties.

The driving force of this litigation is Bishop Gass belief that he is
essential to the success of the Fund, so that ¢t in& a breach of duty for the
Board to remove him. Specifically, the Bishop emis that, despite any
shortcomings he may have had as a board membeudd have as an ex-bishop
attempting to oversee projects in Sudan, his nantk l&keness were an asset
essential to the Fund, so that any action thaeddkss of that asset necessarily
constituted a breach of fiduciary duty. It is clédzat the use of the Bishop’s name
and likeness was an asset that had value to thd fewunmany years. | note,
however, that discharging Bishop Gassis from thardbalid not necessarily mean

loss of that asset. Setting that aside, weighoss lof the name and likeness

the newspapers you can see thatd);at 54:14-19 (“So we really believed that he wottlde
around long. So we thought that it was in the b@stests of the beneficiaries if we let him go
away quietly and we kept our head down. We thotight was the best, but we did know we
had the power. We just wanted to do this amicgply.
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against the detriment of retaining Bishop Gassia Beard member and Chairman
Is precisely the type of business decision thed@acharged with making. In any

event, the record does not support the contentiat) in discharging Bishop Gassis
and risking loss of his name and likeness, thedaated adversely to the interests
of the beneficiaries of the Fund in Sudan.

Ultimately, while the Defendants’ conduct through2011, 2012, and 2013
was far from transparent, the record supports dirfqn that Bishop Gassis’s
removal was the product of a valid business datjsaad did not pose a “palpable
threat” to the Fund’s charitable purpose. | themefdecline to invalidate his
removal on the basis that the Defendants breadtesd ftduciary duties either to
the Bishop personally or to the Fund’s beneficgrie

2. The 2011 and 2012 Elections

In addition to challenging the Defendants’ decisio remove Bishop Gassis
from the Fund’'s board in 2013, the Plaintiff seéksnvalidate Shea’s May 2011
removal, Forte’s August 2012 removal, Hunt and ldwhtall’'s June 2011
election, and Neil's August 2013 election. Sectkzb confers on this Court
jurisdiction to “hear and determine the validity ahy election, appointment,
removal or resignation of any director or officédramy corporation, and the right

of any person to hold or continue to hold suchceffi “[u]pon application of any
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stockholder or director, or any officer whose titteoffice is contested. . ."*?! |

have already determined that Bishop Gassis no tdmgjels a director seat on the
Fund’s board of directors, as he was validly rendoby a two-thirds vote of
directors eithede jureor de factg and that he ceased to be an officer as a refsult o
that same board vote. As a result, pursuant tdidde@.01 of the Fund’s
Bylaws** he ceased to be a member of the corporation ote®epr 21, 2013.
Because the Plaintiff is no longer a director,adfi or member of the Fund, he has
no standing under Section 225 to contest the walafi Shea and Forte’s removal,
or Hunt, Hunter-Hall, and Neil's election. Perhassimportant, neither Shea nor
Forte are parties to this action, and it is fanfroear that, several years after their
respective removals, either would be interestegiarning to the Fund’s board of
directors. | therefore decline to consider thedigl of their removals, on the basis
that Bishop Gassis lacks standing to challenge thienfight of my findings here, |
need not address the Plaintiff's affirmative deéms
V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, | find that Bishags(s was validly removed

from the Fund’s board of directors effective Sepgien®1, 2013, and that he lacks

standing to challenge the prior removals of Nina@&land David Forte or the

1218 Del. C.§ 225(a) (emphasis added).

122 SeeBylaws § 2.01 (defining the Members of the Fund‘the members of the Board of
Directors,” and providing that “each Member shainain a Member so long as, and only so
long as, such person continues to serve as a Difgct
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elections of Kathleen Hunt, Father Rodger Huntelt;Hend Neil Corkery. The
parties should submit an appropriate Order, anormmfthe Court what issues, in

light of this Memorandum Opinion, remain to be aded.
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